
1 

 

Visit us at www.hamden.com 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  

October 13, 2015, revised 11/18/15 per Commission review at the 11/4/15 meeting  

MINUTES:  THE INLAND WETLANDS COMMISSION, Town of Hamden, held a Regular Meeting on 
Wednesday, October 7, 2015 at 7:00 p.m. in the Legislative Council Chambers, Memorial Town Hall, 2372 Whitney 
Avenue, Hamden, CT with the following results:   

 
Commissioners in attendance:      Joan Lakin, Chairperson 

  Kirk Shadle arrived at 7:02 p.m. 

 Stephanie Wilson 
 Kirsten Jensen 

 Amanda Kallenbach 

 Mike Stone, left at 7:36 p.m.  
  Dan Liston    

 

   

Staff in attendance: Dan Kops, Assistant Town Planner  
 Tim Lee, Assistant Town Attorney, arrived at 

 8:00 p.m. 

 Tom Vocelli, IW Enforcement Officer                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
 Stacy Shellard, Commission Clerk 

 

Ms. Lakin called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  Mr. Liston called the roll and there was a quorum.  Ms. Lakin 

introduced the Commission and Staff.    

 

I.  Regular Meeting: 

 

 1)  Pending Applications 

       

                 a.  15-1210  560 Newhall Street-construct multi-family dwelling units  
                 Mutual Housing Association of SC CT, Inc, Applicant                                                            

 

Ms. Lakin stated that the applicant has requested this item to be tabled until the November 4, 2015 meeting and to 

grant the necessary extensions.   
 

Ms. Kallenbach made the motion to table this item until the November 4, 2015 meeting. Mr. Liston seconded the 

motion.  The motion passed unanimously.   
    

             b.  15-1211  303 & 311 Highland Avenue, 124, 128 & 132 Edgewood Avenue                     

     Consolidation of 5 lots into 2 lots & construct 2 single-family homes 
                                       James Wrzosek, Applicant 

 

James DiMeo, Engineer, addressed the Commission and explained that there are currently five building lots and two 

paper roads (Edgewood Avenue and Highland Avenue).  The five lots will be consolidated into two lots and two houses 
will be built.  Mr. DiMeo reviewed the wetland setbacks that will encompass both of the proposed lots.  He explained 

that the proposed driveways will be located on Monroe Street.   



2 

 

Visit us at www.hamden.com 

 

Mr. DiMeo reviewed the proposed stormwater management plan.  He stated that the updated plans will include the 
Commission’s and the Town Engineer’s comments.  Mr. DiMeo explained that there is an existing drainage pump at 

Monroe Street and Highland Avenue with a catch basin and the overflow will be rerouted to a drywell to handle some 

of the water runoff.  The limit of clearing and wetland markers will be clearly depicted on the revised maps.  Mr. 

DiMeo stated that the remaining comments will be addressed.   
 

Mr. DiMeo stated that he received comments from neighbors who are concerned with the increase in water runoff and 

the negative impact to neighboring properties.  He explained that there will be curbing along the driveways to avoid 
the sheet flow of water runoff.  Another concern was the necessary removal of trees for the driveways.  Mr. DiMeo 

noted that the trees being removed are necessary to access the lots and are not within the wetland review area.  The 

erosion control details are noted on the proposed plans.   
 

Mr. DiMeo explained that there had been a question of ownership of a piece of property at the end of the cul-de-sac.  It 

is deeded and owned by the Town.   

 
Mr. Shadle referred to the neighbor’s comments and asked where the proposed curbing will be located.  Mr. DiMeo 

reviewed the placement of the curbing along the proposed driveways.  He noted that the curbing will channel the water 

to the drywell and basin.  Mr. Shadle asked if the calculations include impervious surface for the driveways going to 
the roadway.  He also asked if the drywells will receive the water runoff.  Mr. DiMeo explained that the water will pass 

through the drywells.  He reviewed the location of the catch basins and noted that the water runoff will be redirected to 

the drywells.  Mr. Shadle asked if the drywells will accommodate the water runoff and Mr. DiMeo replied yes.  The 
drywells are designed for a 100 year storm.  Mr. Shadle asked if the overflow of water can be handled until it percs 

into the ground.  Mr. DiMeo replied yes, but that no perc tests have been done.  He further discussed issues related to 

water overflow that may discharge into the wetlands with Mr. Shadle.  Mr. Shadle asked Mr. DiMeo if he has done any 

thermal overloading and he replied no.   
 

Ms. Lakin stated that there were two requests for intervener status from Ms. Belinda Pappacoda and from Mr. Mike 

Iezzi.  She explained that comments must address wetland issues only.   
 

Mr. Dan Kops, Assistant Town Planner stated that Mr. Tim Lee, Assistant Town Attorney, did evaluate both of the 

intervener requests and they appear to both be in order.   

 
Ms. Belinda Pappacoda, 3 Monroe Street, Intervener, addressed the Commission and asked how deep the curbing will 

be.  She has had issues with her driveway and lawn because of water from the street.  She explained the work she has 

done to alleviate the problem.  Ms. Pappacoda noted that her neighbor has also had issues with water.  She said that 
due to the erosion there have been issues with ponding and the draining of standing water.  She asked if perc tests will 

be done.  Ms. Pappacoda stated that she has maintained the paper road for 25 years by removing trees and debris.  Ms. 

Lakin reminded Ms. Pappacoda that her comments should address wetland issues only.   
 

Mr. DiMeo stated that the proposed curbing along the driveway will be six inches in height and will not affect the 

properties located above the proposed sites.  He noted that perc tests have to be done in order to prove the validity of 

the plan.   
 

Ms. Lakin noted that Mr. Iezzi was not in attendance.   

 
Mr. Shadle asked what the projected date was for the perc testing.  Mr. DiMeo replied that the perc testing would be 

contingent upon an approval and if it is possible to be done.  If the Commission requires it prior to an approval he will 

schedule it.   
 

Ms. Lakin asked if the ownership status of the paper road is not resolved.  Mr. DiMeo replied that he has submitted 

evidence 



3 

 

Visit us at www.hamden.com 

 the ownership and has not received any comments to the contrary.  Mr. Vocelli stated that Mr. Tim Lee, Assistant 

Town Attorney has received the information and has indicated that he will verify it.   
 

Mr. Kops stated that the perc testing should be done before the Commission makes its decision.  This would allow the 

Town Engineer to comment and make recommendations.  Mr. Kops asked why the perc tests have not been done.  Mr. 

DiMeo replied that it can be done if the Commission requires it.   
 

Mr. Shadle referred to the Town Engineer’s memo dated July 14, 2015, comment #5, and he asked if there will be a 

transition in the grade of the driveway, and if so, will it change the drainage calculations.  Mr. DiMeo replied that he 
did driveway profiles and the grades will be under 12 percent. 

 

Ms. Lakin read for the record a letter from Mr. Michael Iezzi, Intervenor.   
 

Mr. DiMeo referred to Mr. Iezzi’s letter which addresses water coming onto his property.  Mr. DiMeo stated that the 

water is not coming from the wetlands, but from the road and the grading of Mr. Iezzi’s property.  The proposed 

elevation of the proposed basements will be 112 and the other homes on Forest Street will flood before the proposed 
sites.  Removing of trees for the driveways is not a wetlands issue.  However, once the driveways are paved and the 

grass is planted there will be minimal erosion.  Mr. DiMeo stated that he has provided documentation to the Town that 

shows ownership of the property in question and has not received a response.    
 

Mr. Stone stated that ownership of the property in question must be resolved before an approval is granted.  He agrees 

with Mr. Kops that a perc test should be done prior to an approval.  This will allow the Town Engineer to address any 
issues with drainage.  The Commission further discussed the need for perc testing.   

 

Mr. DiMeo stated that he is concerned with the deadline to complete if the item is tabled.  He would accept that a perc 

test must be completed as a condition of approval.  If the perc test is good then the application is approved if not then it 
would not be.   

 

Mr. Shadle made the motion to table Application 15-1211 pending receipt of all associated testing necessary to verify 

drainage accommodations as well as to allow the Town Engineer to review and comment on the proposed plans and 

upon a review by the Town Attorney to determine the ownership of the property in question.  Ms. Kallenbach 

seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously.   

 
Ms. Lakin asked Mr. DiMeo if he would be willing to grant an extension until the November 4, 2015 meeting.  Mr. 

DiMeo asked if this is after the perc testing is completed and Ms. Lakin replied yes.  Mr. DiMeo asked what his 

options are. 
 

Mr. Kops explained that the Commission can approve the application with conditions or deny it as incomplete.  Mr. 

DiMeo asked if the application were to be denied would the applicant need to start the approval process over again and 
Mr. Kops replied yes.  Mr. DiMeo stated that he would need to call his client to confer with him.   

 

Mr. Shadle made the motion to withdraw the previous motion to table Application 15-1211.  Mr. Liston seconded the 

motion.  The motion passed unanimously.  

 

Ms. Lakin asked for a motion to table this item until later in the meeting.   

 

Mr. Shadle made the motion to table this item until after Application 15-1213 is heard.  Mr. Liston seconded the 

motion.  The motion passed unanimously.   

 
Mr. DiMeo stated that his client is willing to grant an extension to allow time to get the test pit information.  He asked 

if the Commission was asking for perc tests and deep testing.  Mr. DiMeo stated that the perc testing can be done by 

hand, but deep testing must be done with a machine.  Mr. Kops stated that Mr. DiMeo should   consult with the Town 

Engineer to determine which one is needed.   



4 

 

Visit us at www.hamden.com 

 

Mr. Tim Lee, Assistant Town Attorney, addressed the question about ownership of the existing road and he advised the 
Commission that it was deeded to the Town.   

 

Mr. Liston made the motion to table Application 15-1211 until the November 4, 2015 meeting pending receipt of 

necessary testing as recommended by Town Engineer.  Ms. Kallenbach seconded the motion.  The motion passed 

unanimously.   

              

     c.  15-1212  700 Main Street-construct a single-family house     
              David Thompson-Applicant   

 

Mr. David Thompson, Architect, addressed the Commission and reviewed the site.  He reviewed the proposed plan and 
noted that it is similar to the previous approval granted in 2006.  Mr. Thompson stated that QVHD has granted an 

approval for the septic system design.   

 

Mr. Jim Rotondo, Professional Engineer, addressed the Commission and reviewed the Town Engineer’s comments.  He 
stated that there are no issues with addressing them.   

 

Mr. Shadle asked if there is an approval and a certification letter from QVHD for the septic system and Mr. Thompson 
replied yes.   

 

Mr. Liston made the motion to approve Application 15-1212.  Ms. Kallenbach seconded the motion.   
 

Mr. Shadle asked that the motion be amended with the following condition:  The Town Engineer’s comments dated 

October 2, 2015 should be incorporated into the revised plan and the revised plans be submitted to the Chair for 

approval.   
 

Mr. Liston and Ms. Kallenbach accepted the amendment to the motion.  The motion passed unanimously.    

                                                                                 
      d.  15-1213  406 Ives Street-construct a single-family house 

                                      Anthony Zammataro, Applicant          

 

Ms. Lakin stated that Mr. Robert Cole, 402 Ives Street, has requested Intervener Status.   
 

Mr. Michael Harkin, Professional Engineer, submitted the certified mailer cards to the clerk.  He reviewed the 

subdivision known as Ives Estate and the site plan for lot 11.  He stated that his client owned lots 12 and 13 for 27 
years.  Mr. Harkin noted that Richard Snarski, Soil Scientist, flagged the smaller wetland area with flags 1 through 5 

and the larger area located in the rear with flags 6 through 15.  There is a long 15 foot wide access to the site.  

However, within the 15 foot wide access there are wetlands.  On lot 10 there is an existing driveway with a sign posted 
that states it cannot be used to access lot 11.  Currently, lot 11 is for sale but cannot be physically accessed and the 

proposed request would allow a driveway for access to the site.   

 

Mr. Harkin stated that QVHD has approved the house and septic system.  He reviewed the previous approval given for 
a site plan which included QVHD approval for a 5 bedroom house and septic system.  Soil tests for the proposed site 

were done and it was determined that the soil is good in the areas tested.   

 
Mr. Harkin stated that the Inland Wetlands and Planning & Zoning Commissions had approved the subdivision with 15 

foot wide access going through the wetlands for lots 10, 11 and 13.  This proposed site plan mirrors that of lot 10 

which had a house built on it approximately 15 years ago with a 15 foot wide driveway.  Mr. Harkin reviewed the 
existing driveway for lot 10 and proposed driveway for lot 11.  He reviewed the proposed site plan, which is similar to 

the plan previously approved.  Mr. Harkin noted that the proposed house is smaller than what was previously 

approved.  He reviewed the feasible and prudent alternatives and the cost to complete.  He noted that proposed 

alternatives could do possible damage to the wetlands.  



5 

 

Visit us at www.hamden.com 

Mr. Harkin reviewed the proposed stormwater management plan and reviewed his response letter dated October 6, 

2015 to the Town Engineer’s comments of October 2, 2015.  Mr. Harkin stated that the abutting property owner was 
asked if access to this site could be via his driveway and he declined.   

 

Mr. Harkin reviewed the site plan that had been completed by a surveyor and noted that the contours of the property 

can be added to the site plans.    
 

The exhibits presented at this meeting are as follows: 1) Site Development Plan 2) Original Sub-Division (Ives Estates) 

3) Original Site Plan (Proposed Septic System) 4) Original conditions site plan (Topographic Survey)  
Mr. Harkin stated that the topography will be shown on the final plans, but he would accept as a condition of approval.  

 

Mr. Harkin submitted the Assessment Parcel Map (Exhibit 5) which shows that the proposed house will be in line with 
the house on the adjacent property.   

 

Mr. Harkin reviewed the RWA comments dated October 1, 2015.  

 
Mr. Harkin received a letter from an intervener prior to the meeting.   

 

Ms. Lakin asked if there is a conservation easement.  Mr. Harkin replied that there will be a conservation easement and 
wetland markers will be noted on the plans.   

 

Mr. Robert Cole, 402 Ives Street, Intervener, addressed the Commission and apologized for the lateness of his Notice 
of Intervention.  It was his understanding that his neighbor would be filing one and she was unable to do so.  Mr. Cole 

stated that he does not have any specific credentials with regards to soil or topography.   

 

Mr. Cole stated that he is asking for an in depth review of issues addressed in his letter, especially the impact the 
project will have to his property.  There is an intermittent watercourse located in the front of his property and there 

may be impact from the installation of the driveway and driveway crossing.  There has already been direct impact on 

wetlands in front of his property.  He would like the Commission to consider what the proposed project will do in 
terms of drainage into a wetland area.  There is already considerable runoff and erosion on Mr. Cole’s property and 

what has been submitted does not show what the possible impact could be.  Mr. Cole asked that the Town Engineer 

review the proposed project to address his concerns.  

 
Mr. Harkin stated that he received the Town Engineer’s comments on Monday and the concerns were minor.  The 

proposed site was approved as part of a sub-division that should have taken care of the water runoff in its original 

design.  The proposed driveway will mirror the completed driveway on lot 10.  The drainage pattern will not be 
changing and the proposed project will not be taking any road runoff.  A 1.2 acre area is feeding the wetlands.  Abutter 

letters were sent and no concerns were received.  Mr. Harkin did speak with one neighbor to address their concerns.  

The concerns of the Town Engineer were addressed this evening.   
 

Mr. Shadle asked if Mr. Snarski provided any documentation referencing the functional values of the wetland.  Mr. 

Harkin replied no but Mr. Snarski had said that the wetland was low functional.  Mr. Harkin stated that he can get 

documentation as part of the approval.  Mr. Shadle asked if post construction will eliminate the functionality of the 
wetland that is currently there.  Mr. Harkin replied that the current homeowner has been mowing and putting grass 

clippings into wetlands and the physical quality will be low.     

 
Mr. Shadle asked if the formation of the area is relatively new and not an existing condition with the original approval.  

Mr. Harkin replied that he believed it was the case.   The soil type and acidity could create a wetland pocket over time 

and it may have not been there when the sub-division was developed.   
 

Mr. Shadle stated that he would like a document regarding the functional value of the area.  Mr. Harkin stated he would 

accept this as a condition of approval.  Mr. Harkin said that at the site walk the physical damage that has been done 

was seen.  However, the proposed location of the driveway is the only way to access the site.  If the application is 



6 

 

Visit us at www.hamden.com 

denied the site cannot be accessed.  Mr. Shadle would like documentation submitted to determine if there are no 

prudent and feasible alternatives and to assess the value of the wetlands.  Mr. Harkin agreed.   
 

Ms. Wilson asked if any consideration has been taken of onsite mitigation and if there will be any elimination of 

wetlands.  Mr. Harkin replied that there is only a small portion of the wetlands on the site and they do not have 

permission to go on the neighboring property to do any wetland mitigation.  The second phase could be to go down the 
steep bank in the back where there is a physical stream/brook and that would be harmful.  The disturbance would be  

adjacent to the existing wetlands.  The proposed plan only affects 375 square feet wetlands.  Wetland plantings could 

be put adjacent to the brook. Ms. Wilson asked if planting could be done within the conservation area.  Mr. Harkin 
stated it could be done, but the conservation area is large and to do so would mean having to go adjacent to the 

wetlands.   

 
Mr. Shadle asked Mr. Harkin how soon the requested documentation could be summitted from the soil scientist.  Mr. 

Harkin replied next week.   

 

Mr. Vocelli said that a conservation easement was referred to during the presentation.  He asked if it was an easement 
or a conservation area.  Mr. Harkin replied that it is a conservation area with a buffer area.  It is not a physical 

easement, but it is an area that runs along the area of disturbance.  

 
Mr. Shadle asked if Mr. Harkin would grant an extension of time to allow the soil scientist to provide the requested 

documentation.  Mr. Harkin replied yes and granted an extension until the November 4, 2015 meeting.  Mr. Shadle 

stated that the documentation should include a functionality evaluation and a planting plan that is not in the wetland 
but mitigation at the edge of the wetland.  Mr. Harkin stated the revised plans will show the planting plan, a mitigation 

area and a functionality evaluation of the existing wetlands.   

 

Mr. Shadle made the motion to table Application 15-1213 until the November 4, 2015 meeting for the additional 

information discussed. Mr. Liston seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously.   

 

Ms. Lakin stated that the Commission would return to Application 15-1211 
 

II.  Other Business 

 

      1.    Notices-of-Violation, Cease & Desist & Restore Orders, Notices-to-Appear   
            

                     a.     N.O.V.  64 Rocky Top Road – clearing of trees & removal of vegetation                          

                     b.     N.O.V.  Lot 10-Benham Hill Estates (aka 0 Benham Hill Place)  
                      Failure to repair & maintain stormwater detention basin 

 

Mr. Lee updated the Commission on the N.O.V’s,   

 

All Notices-of-Violation remain tabled.  

   

           2.    Review Site Inspection Schedule   
 

Ms. Lakin advised the Commission that an R.S.V. P to Mr. Vocelli will be requested when Site Inspection notices are 

sent to them.   
 

No site inspections scheduled 

 

           3.    Old/New Business   
 

Mr. Vocelli stated that paving a driveway or parking lot is a regulated activity.  He asked the members if they would 

like him to do a de minimis or if it should be a wetlands application when going from gravel to asphalt.    



7 

 

Visit us at www.hamden.com 

 

Ms. Kallenbach stated criteria should be developed that includes the size of the parking area and its location to the 
wetlands.  Mr. Vocelli discussed a possible conversion from gravel to asphalt on Ford Street very near Lake Whitney. 

 

Ms. Lakin stated that kind of request for paving should be presented to the Commission to allow them to determine 

what to do. 
 

Ms. Lakin thanked Mr. Shadle, Ms. Wilson, Ms. Jensen and Ms. Kallenbach for their site inspection reports.   

 

          4.    Review of September 2, 2015 Meeting Minutes  
 

Ms. Kallenbach made the motion to approve the September 2, 2015 Meeting Minutes.  Ms. Wilson seconded the 

motion.  The motion passed unanimously.           
 

           5.    Adjournment 

 

A motion to adjourn was made by Mr. Shadle and seconded by Mr. Liston.  It passed with no dissenting votes.   

 

The meeting adjourned at 8:35 p.m.   

 

Submitted by:   ______________________________________      

                           Stacy Shellard-Clerk of the Commission                 


